
 
If you require further information, please contact: Hannah Harding 

Telephone 01344 352308 
E-mail: hannah.harding@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Joint Waste Disposal Board 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 

Tuesday, 7 September 2021 (9.30 am) 
 
TO: All Members of the Joint Waste Disposal Board 
 

 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board on Tuesday 7 
September 2021 at 9.30 am in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading, RG1 2LU.  An agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf. 

 
 Oliver Burt 
 Project Director 
 

Members of the Joint Waste Disposal Board 
 

Councillor Mrs Dorothy Hayes MBE, Bracknell Forest Council 
Councillor John Harrison, Bracknell Forest Council 
Councillor Adele Barnett-Ward, Reading Borough Council 
Councillor Tony Page, Reading Borough Council 
Councillor Parry Batth, Wokingham Borough Council 
Councillor Gregor Murray, Wokingham Borough Council 

 
 

Emergency Evacuation Instructions 
 

If you hear the alarm: 
 

1 Leave the building immediately 
2 Follow the green signs 
3 Use the stairs not the lifts 
4 Do not re-enter the building until told to do so 
 

 



 

Joint Waste Disposal Board 
Tuesday 7 September 2021 (9.30 am) 

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading, RG1 2LU. 
 

Agenda 
 
 Page No 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Election of Chairman   

3. Appointment of Vice-Chairman   

4. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected 
interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they 
are withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests 
the Monitoring Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an affected Interest in a matter must disclose the 
interest to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the 
meeting when the interest is only an affected interest, but the 
Monitoring Officer should be notified of the interest, if not previously 
notified of it, within 28 days of the meeting. 
 

 

5. Minutes of the Meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board  5 - 10 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Joint Waste Disposal 
Board held on 17 June 2021. 
 

 

6. Urgent Items of Business   

 To notify the Board of any items authorised by the Chairman on the 
grounds of urgency. 
 

 

7. Progress Report  11 - 20 

 To brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on progress in the delivery 
of the re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract. 
 

 

8. Booking System Report  21 - 34 

 To brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on access options for the 
re3 recycling centres. 
 

 

9. Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To consider the following motion: 
 
That pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2000 and having 

 



 

regard to the public interest, members of the public and press be 
excluded from the meeting for the consideration of item 10 which 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information under the following 
category of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person. 
 

10. Finance Report  35 - 46 

 To brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on the Partnership’s 
current financial position, and to confirm the second draft budget. 
 

 

11. Date of the Next Board Meeting   

 The next meeting will be held at 9.30am on 2 December 2021.  Further 
meetings will be held at 9.30am on 3 March and 9 June 2021. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: OFFICIAL 

Classification: Official 

JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD 
17 JUNE 2021 

(9.30  - 10.45 am) 
 

Present: Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
Councillor Mrs Dorothy Hayes MBE 
Councillor John Harrison 
 

 Reading Borough Council 
Councillor Adele Barnett-Ward 
Councillor Tony Page 
 

 Wokingham District Council 
Councillor Parry Batth 
Councillor Gregor Murray 
 

Officers Monika Bulmer, re3 Marketing & Communications Officer 
Oliver Burt, re3 Strategic Waste Manager 
Andy Edwards, Reading Borough Council 
Kevin Gibbs, Bracknell Forest Council 
Sarah Innes, Reading Borough Council 
Damian James, Bracknell Forest Council 
Clare Lawrence, Wokingham Borough Council 
Richard Bisset, Wokingham Borough Council 
 

 

27. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest.  

28. Minutes of the Meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board  

The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board held on the 21 
January 2021, be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

29. Urgent Items of Business  

There were no urgent items of business.  

30. re3 Progress Report  

The Board received a report on progress in the delivery of the re3 Joint Waste PFI 
Contract.  
 
The report covered: 
 

 re3 and Council Performance Statistics 

 re3 grow 

 re3 paint 

 Rigid Plastics Recycling Trial 

 Climate Change 

 Communications  
 
Sarah Innes reported the performance statistic for all three Council, which included 
the provisional figures for April 2021, which showed that all three Council were in the 

5

Agenda Item 5



 

 

low to mid 50%. All three Councils had now rolled out a food waste collection service, 
Reading in February 2021 and Bracknell in March 2021. The statistics reflected this 
change and highlighted the difference for both Bracknell and Reading in their 
statistics compared to last year. Wokingham had also seen an increase in their 
recycling figures, which was due to the new recycling bags, which had been 
introduced in March 2021. These had proved to be successful in keeping the 
contents dry with no rejections reported since mid-March. It was expected that the 
April 2021 figures would be reflective of future performance.  
 
Monika Bulmer, reported that the re3grow sales had been very successful, and the 
report stated that to date over 75% of stock had already been sold. However, in the 
past few weeks, all the bags had Smallmead had been sold, with a small number left 
at Longshot Lane. This gave confidence that a similar or higher order next year would 
be successful. Full numbers would be reported at the next meeting. 
 
 It was requested that more comms be done regarding the re3grow process and the 
processing cost, as well as highlighting that this was non-profit. It was confirmed that 
this information was already in the public domain, but the message would be 
reemphasised next year when the bags went back on sale. 
 
Repaint, had now been available to residence since December 2020, it had a slow 
start due to lockdown and winter months, however due to increased promotion and a 
change of location of paint cabinets at both sites the offering was looking more 
promising. April had been the most successful month so far with half a tonne of paint 
being redistributed to the public. There would be further promotion with stickers being 
placed on the tubs, so residents could take photos of their DIY projects which could 
then be shared on social media and raise awareness. There would also be comms 
regarding which type of paint would be suitable for reuse would also be created as 
well as details regarding hardening old paint. It was requested by the Chair that each 
Council advertise the paint service in their communications.  
 
It was reported that there were now over 20,000 users of the re3cyclopedia, which 
had double in the last 12 months. The app had been well used and since the start of 
the year there had regularly been over 10,000 searches a month. The app was 
awaiting an upgrade which would include a barcode scanning option, which was the 
first of its kind anywhere in the UK and was at its final testing stage. It was hoped that 
this would be ready by late summer/early autumn. 
 
Each of the re3 partner councils had made commitments to take action to reduce 
their carbon emissions and communications relating to Climate Change were key 
moving forward. A online calculator that shows how recycling of single household 
items can contribute to efforts in combating a climate change will be added to the re3 
website. Using this tool, residents would be able to see how much CO2e could be 
saved by recycling and will learn how this amount of CO2e relates to the number of 
cars taken off the roads. These calculations will be used to develop recycling 
awareness messages within a wider focus on the environment and practical steps 
that residents can take. The current plans would be shared with members for 
comments, but transport and energy usage could be included. 

The re3 Partnership was keen to explore the options available for extending their 
recycling services and Officers had previously looked into a number of different 
possibilities for the recycling of rigid plastics but an option had not been found that 
was cost effective and allowed for a stable outlook for the waste. An option had now 
been found which would meet both of those aims and a trial was now planned to start 
at the start of July. There was a specific list regarding what could and couldn’t be 
recycled and the trial would enable the partnership to establish the quantity of waste 

6



 

 

that can be diverted from landfill and the input needed in order to meet the quality 
requirements of the offtaker. A meeting had been held with the contractor and 
signage would be placed at the sites. Members would be kept up to date regarding 
the progress of the trial.  
 
It was questioned what would happen to the hard plastics once they had been taken 
off site. Sarah Innes confirmed that a desktop audit had taken place in relation to 
what would happen to the waste. The ridged plastic would be taken to a centre on the 
South Coast and separated into different polymer types and baled up. It would then 
go to the north of England where it would be processed, and they would be turned in 
to pellets and would be made into a product which would be able to be sold. 
Concerns were related to the emissions in regard to the travelling that the plastic 
would be doing. It was suggested that during the trial the ridged plastics could be 
used to create something useful in the community of one of the three Councils. A 
video had been offered by the offtaker that the Board were keen to use.  

31. Review of Recycling Centres' Booking System  

The Board received a report briefing the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on access 
options for the re3 recycling centres. 

 
Members supported the retention of the recycling centre booking system during the 
COVID-19 pandemic in order to provide clarity in communications for site visitors. At 
the JWDB meeting of January 2021, Members requested that future access options 
be considered. The booking system was introduced to minimise the queues which 
may have resulted from the ‘one in, one out’ policy; used to help maintain social 
distancing at the recycling centres. Benefits of managing the flow of residents arriving 
at the recycling centres were detailed within the report.  
 
There was soon to be an upgrade to the booking system which would allow a 
postcode look up option. This would help officers to be able to tell where residents 
were traveling from to use the sites. This would be helpful in the future to allocate 
funding and work out tonnages.  
 
Three different options had been drafted for members to consider; these were: 
 
Option 1 – Removal of the booking system which would see a return to pre-COVID 
access arrangements. 
 
Option 2 - Retention of the booking system, with current profiling and additional slots. 
 
Option 3 - Retention of the booking system, with weekday profiling and additional 
weekend slots. 
 
As this meeting of the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board was unable to meet in person 
and due to the changes in the remote meeting protocol, the Board were unable to 
endorse one of the options within the report. So, it was proposed that as a trial the 
additional weekend slots be added from this weekend (17 June 2021) and that this 
continued until September when the data from this trial would be presented to 
Members and an informed decision could be made.  
 
As a result of the Members comments and questions, the following points were 
made: 

 The number of additional bookings would be gauged through the trial, to see 
what the optimum number could be, this was also linked to the social 

7



 

 

distancing guidelines, and as soon as this was released more scope may be 
given to the numbers able to visit.  

 A scale hadn’t been included on the graphs, so they weren’t on the same 
scale. What was intended by having the 2 graphs was to show the peaks and 
troughs of busy periods. Whereas the booking system has been able to 
maintain a steady flow throughout the week. A copy of the graph with scales 
on could be circulated to Members after the meeting.  

 The booking slots could be increased by units of 6, it was very difficult to say 
what the number would be at this point. 

 Bracknell took fly tipping very seriously and would prosecute. Fly tipping 
would always be investigated thoroughly and the “enviro crime” team was 
expanding so there would be a strong presence across the Borough.  

  Feedback on the booking system had bee positive, with many of the positives 
outweighing the negatives.  

 There would be no desire from Reading to go back to the “free for all” system, 
which caused terrible queues at Smallmead and often disrupted the A33 with 
queuing.  

 It was requested that the next 3 months be used to gather data on the trial 
and bring the information to the next meeting in September where a formal 
decision can be made.  

 Longshot Lane, although didn’t suffer from the same queuing issue as 
Smallmead, did have different access issues that still needed to be resolved. 

 It was confirmed that Wokingham residents had also been positive regarding 
the booking system. 

 
It was confirmed by the Chair, that the trial would be carried on until September and 
an options report would be brought to the next meeting for Members to make a formal 
decision.  

32. re3 Strategy Report  

 
The Board received a report which briefed the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on 
progress in the delivery of the renewed re3 Strategy.  

 
At the January 2020 re3 Board meeting, Members requested the preparation of a 
strategic pathway for the re3 partnership. The Covid-19 pandemic had delayed 
progress in developing the strategic pathway however at the re3 Board meeting in 
2020, Members received a strategic briefing. At the board meeting in January 2021, 
the Members held a workshop in which Members recorded their strategic aspirations 
as individual councils and as partners.  

 
The report detailed a short analysis of the data collected from Board Members and a 
first draft strategy for the partnership, which also reflected the emerging legislative 
environment and the re3 council’s respective climate change commitments.  

 
The strategy was organised around five themes, which were:  
 
A. Climate Change  

B. Waste Collection  

C. Waste Management  

D. Innovative Partnership  

E. Communication  

 

8



 

 

It was proposed that between now and the September meeting or Christmas that 
further consultations are undertaken both internally and externally before a further 
draft version is brought back to the re3 Board. 
 

33. Environment Bill - Resources and Waste Strategy Consultations Report  

 
The Board received a briefing on two consultations, under the Resources and Waste 
Strategy sections of the forthcoming Environment Bill.  
 
Due to the dates of the consultations, it had not possible to report to the JWDB prior 
to the submission of the two consultation responses, though some separate Member 
briefings were arranged.  
 
The report provided an opportunity to formally record the response made by the re3 
partnership. 

34. Exclusion of Public and Press  

Pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access 
to Information) Regulations 2000 and having regard to the public interest, members 
of the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of item 10 
which involves the likely disclosure of exempt information under the following 
category of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

35. re3 Finance Report  

The Board received the Finance Report which briefed the re3 Joint Waste Disposal 
Board on the Partnership’s current financial position and confirmed the second draft 
budget. 

36. Date of the Next Board Meeting  

It was agreed that the Annual Meeting of the Board would be moved to the 7 
September 2021, with Reading Borough Council offering to host a hybrid meeting 
with Board Members attending in person. 
 
 

 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

TO: JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD 
 7th September 2021 
  
 

PROGRESS REPORT 
Report of the re3 Project Director 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on progress 

in the delivery of the re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract. 
  
2 RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 That Members note the contents of this report.   
 
2.2 That Members request an update on the rigid plastics recycling trial, as 

described at 5.18, to be presented at the next meeting. 
 
3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 None for this report. 
 
4 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 The purpose of this report is to brief Members in relation to progress in delivery of the 

re3 Joint Waste PFI Contract. 
 
5 PROGRESS IN RELATION TO WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

re3 and Council Performance Statistics 
 
5.1 Members will be aware that all three councils have now commenced a food waste 

collection. Food waste collections were rolled out to all houses in Reading Borough 
Council in February 2021 and the existing complement of, principally 240 litre, residual 
waste bins were replaced with smaller ones. In March 2021, Bracknell Forest 
commenced food waste collections across the borough and changed the collection 
frequency for residual waste from fortnightly to three-weekly. The reduction in residual 
waste capacity, alongside the new collections have had a positive impact in the 
recycling rate. In Wokingham Borough Council, new recycling bags were introduced at 
the start of 2021, and have also led to increased recycling rates.  
 

5.2 The provisional recycling rates for April to July are presented below, with a comparison 
from 2020/21 shown in Appendix 1.  

 
April – July 2021 

 
BFC – 58.3% 
RBC – 52.9% 
WBC – 56.7% 

 
5.3 A breakdown of the April recycling rate has been presented in Appendix 2. The growth 

in food waste, and its positive impact on recycling remains apparent. However an 
increase in garden waste has also had a small impact on the increase.  

 
5.4 Bracknell Forest and Reading have seen increases in their kerbside recycling tonnages 

11

Agenda Item 7



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

following on from the recent changes. Decreases in residual waste capacity had the 
potential to lead to increases in MDR contamination, and Appendix 1 shows a slight 
decrease in the levels of target materials in Bracknell Forest. The same decrease has 
not been seen in Reading and Officers will continue to monitor this.  
 

5.5 In Wokingham, the level of contamination remains below the level seen in 2020/21 as 
a result of the new recycling bags, which prevent paper and card from becoming 
saturated with rain water. Since the middle of March there has only been one date on 
which there were rejections of Wokingham MDR.  
 

5.6 Officers will continue to provide regular updates on the recycling rate (which 
incorporates both the waste collected by the councils and that delivered to the two 
recycling centres).   
 

5.7 The recycling rates for the re3 recycling centres are 67.84% for Longshot Lane and 
72.10% at Smallmead. They are shown in Appendix 1, alongside a comparison from 
last year.  

 
re3Grow 
 

5.8 Following a successful sale of re3grow compost in 2020/2021, the re3 Project Team is 
planning to increase the order to 10,000 bags of 40L compost for the next year. The 
compost is set to arrive early Spring 2021.   

 
5.9 As requested during the last JWDB meeting, the Marketing and Communication Officer 

will strengthen messages about the composting process, focusing on the peat-free 
quality of re3grow compost. Communications will further explain, to residents, the cost 
structure, showcasing that the price per bag has been calculated to cover the costs of 
producing and supplying the compost only.  

 
Rigid Plastics Recycling Trial 
 

5.10 At the Joint Waste Disposal Board Meeting in June 2021, Officers reported that a rigid 
plastics recycling trial would commence at both Recycling Centres in early July. The 
purpose of the trial was to enable the costs and benefits of the service to be assessed.  

 
5.11 Although the trial is still ongoing, Officers can report that 33 tonnes of rigid plastics was 

sent for recycling in the first six weeks. There has also been positive feedback from the 
offtaker about low levels of contamination.  
 

5.12 Communications activities, related to the rigid plastic trial, included issuing a local 
press release, securing an interview on BBC Radio Berkshire and publicising a range 
of promotional posts on the re3 and the council social media channels. In addition, the 
information about the trial was included in the re3 newsletter as well as separate 
newsletters sent out by the council’s comms teams.  
 

5.13 The database behind our re3cyclopedia app has been updated with advice relating 
specifically to the rigid plastic items we can collect. This allows residents to receive 
specific and correct advice, when searching for these items via the re3 website search 
and through the app.  
 

5.14 To improve visibility of the new service, both sites have been equipped with relevant 
signage. It includes generic signs to help locate the correct recycling bays as well as 
supportive signage with images of accepted and forbidden items.  

 
5.15 During the meeting in June, Members requested that a video of the recycling process 

12



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

be made available to residents. A link to the offtaker’s video has been posted on the 
re3 website and officers are currently considering options for an re3 version. This could 
show the full journey of the items deposited at the recycling centres.  
 

5.16 Members also requested that the Partnership explore the purchase of products that 
could be used to purposefully demonstrate the circularity of the recycling process. 
Officers have liaised with the hard plastics reprocessor and confirmed that it will, 
through segregation of the re3 waste, be possible to obtain items that have been made, 
in part, from waste collected at the re3 recycling centres. At the time of writing the 
report, Officers are awaiting further details of these items, and hope to be able to 
provide this during the meeting on the 7th of September.   
 

5.17 The costs of recycling the rigid plastics are presented in Appendix Three. Members will 
note that the cost per tonne currently stands at £168. This compares to £147 per tonne 
to send the same waste to landfill.  
 

5.18 Officers are liaising with the Contractor to optimise the haulage of the material and will 
present the conclusions of the trial during the next meeting in December.  

 
Communications 
 

5.19 At the June 2021 re3 Board meeting, officers reported on the development of an online 
calculator for re3 residents.  
 

5.20 The calculator illustrates the importance of collective and consistent action in helping 
to achieve necessary climate change adaptations. Small individual actions, if replicated 
across our three Boroughs consistently, can add-up to significant improvements.  
 

5.21 The Calculator is now being advertised on the social media and newsletters and we 
would encourage Members and officers to share the link whenever appropriate. 

 
5.22 re3 Officers and Contractor are preparing for the installation of England’s first 

retrofittable AI-powered robotic waste picking system, at our Material Recycling Facility 
in Reading. 
 

5.23 The recyclate-picking robot, known as Recycleye Robotics is able to perform the 
physical tasks of identifying, picking and placing materials at a rate of 55 successful 
picks per minute. The intelligent picking system is powered by Recycleye Vision, an AI 
computer vision system, which detects all individual items on waste streams by 
material and object.  

 
5.24 The robot is expected to be installed during September 2021 and is intended to 

improve the efficiency and operations of our sorting processes. A further briefing on its 
operational benefits will be provided as soon as the testing period is complete. 

 
5.25 This achievement is possible thanks to our successful partnership with the Contractor, 

FCC Environment, and the Contractor’s foresight in working with the intelligent waste 
management start-up, Recycleye.  
 

5.26 The re3 Marketing and Communications Officer is working closely with the Contractor’s 
Comms team to coordinate public relations activities. These will include: issuing press 
releases, photo-calls, seeking TV and national coverage and providing opportunities 
to showcase the robot to journalists and public.  
 

5.27 At the end of September are two national weeks of action, Recycle Week, Great Big 
Green Week, and more locally the wider Reading Climate Change Festival. As ever, 

13



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

re3 will be engaging in each event, providing opportunities for residents to learn about 
the councils and their partnership.   

 
5.28 Following 2020, when tours to the re3 site could not be arranged due to social 

distancing, officers are hopeful that we will be able to welcome residents on tours once 
again. The tours of re3 have previously been most popular with residents who are keen 
to know what happens to their waste and recycling. 
 

5.29 During the Recycle Week, officers will also schedule an online webinar directed at the 
re3 residents. The online webinars proved to be a successful tool to engage with a 
wide range of residents. This year’s webinar will put a greater focus on the climate 
change, helping residents to further learn how recycling can help to reduce our carbon 
impact.  
 

5.30 The Annual Environmental Report 2020/2021, a document summarising activities and 
achievements of the Partnership has been published on the re3 website. The report 
has been circulated with the Officers and press release has been issued to the local 
and trade media. 
 
Bike Reuse 
 

5.31 Over the last few years, officers have been able to assist with a number of initiatives 
which have sought to make use of bicycles, delivered to the Recycling Centres when 
no longer of use to residents. 
 

5.32 Primarily the bikes are provided to the Sue Ryder charity as well as Precycle on a 
regular basis. 
 

5.33 In addition to the above collaborations and to give a new lease of life to bikes that have 
been left at its recycling centres by residents, re3 has made it possible for a local 
organisations to benefit from the bikes.  
 

5.34 So far, these initiatives included a My Journey Wokingham, the Wokingham Borough 
Council’s project that actively promote walking and cycling whilst working closely with 
local schools, communities and workplaces as well as Foundry College, Wokingham 
that has requested bikes for their outreach programme that includes a bike mechanics 
qualification directed at the vulnerable students.   

 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY 
 
 Head of Legal Services  
 
6.1 None for this report. 
 

Corporate Finance Business Partner 
 
6.2 None for this report. 
 
 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.3 None. 
 
 Strategic Risk Management Issues 
 
6.4      None  
 

14



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Climate Impact Assessment 
 
6.5 Each of the re3 Councils has made commitments relating to climate change, and the UK 

Government declared a Climate Change emergency in 2019. As a result, a high-level 
assessment has been undertaken on the impact of recycling rigid plastics on carbon 
emissions. 

 Energy Use - Plastics are made from oil, which is a fossil fuel. Recycling often takes a 
lot less energy than extracting raw materials.  

 Waste Generation – No known impacts 

 Transport – Greater levels of transport are involved in recycling hard plastics than in 
landfilling them. However, the full life cycle of the products may also be relevant. Oil 
production in other countries, particularly the United States is far greater than in the 
UK. If recycled plastics can be used locally, this may result in less transport overall.   
 

6.6    It has also been assessed whether the decision will improve resilience to climate change 
impacts. 

 Heatwaves – No known impacts 

 Drought – No known impacts 

 Flooding – No known impacts 

 High Winds/Storms – No known impacts 

 Disruption to Supply Chains – No known impacts 
 

6.7    Whilst it hasn’t been possible to quantify the benefits, the overall rating assigned to this 
trial is a ‘low positive’ one.  

 
6.8   To help maximise the positive impacts, Officers are working with the Contractor to 

optimise the quantity of waste transported per load.   
 
7  CONSULTATION 
 
7.1  Principal Groups Consulted 
  

Not applicable. 
 
7.2 Method of Consultation 
 
  Not applicable. 
  
7.3 Representations Received 
 
 Not applicable.  
 
Background Papers 
October 2020 re3 Board  
 
Contacts for further information 
Sarah Innes, re3 Monitoring and Performance Officer 
0118 937 3459 
sarah.innes@reading.gov.uk  
 
Monika Bulmer, re3 Marketing and Communications Officer 
0118 937 3460 
monika.bulmer@reading.gov.uk  
 
Oliver Burt, re3 Project Director  

15



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

0118 937 3990 
oliver.burt@reading.gov.uk 
 
 
 

16



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 – WASTE STATISTICS 
 

 
 

 
 

Bracknell Forest

C1A

Statutory Recycling 

Target

C1B

Kerbside Recycling

C1C

Including Incinerator 

Bottom Ash (IBA)

Target 82.43% Target 84.99%

Non Target 

Paper and Card 2.59%
Non Target 

Paper and Card 1.57%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

14.98%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

13.44%

39.80%

58.33% 43.30%

26.77%

7% 15%

Category Background

This target is the traditional 

‘recycling rate’ target that should 

be comparable with other councils 

in the UK.

Using the respective weekly 

council kerbside collections is an 

effective way to recycle. This 

indicator looks at this service 

alone.

Despite displacing ‘virgin’ 

materials, the recycling of IBA into 

building blocks is not yet counted 

as ‘recycling’ by the Government. 

Nonetheless, re3 recognises the 

value of this activity.

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to 

describe items which are not 

supposed to be present within 

recyclables. The level of 

contamination is, therefore, an 

indicator of the effectiveness of 

waste collection arrangements. It 

also has an impact on recycling 

because at high levels of 

contamination it can become 

harder to separate ‘good’ 

recyclables from the unwanted 

items.

April-July 2021/22 April-Sept 2020/21

Reading

C2A

Statutory Recycling 

Target

C2B

Kerbside Recycling

C2C

Including Incinerator 

Bottom Ash (IBA)

Target 80.67% Target 80.39%

Non Target 

Paper and Card 3.40%
Non Target 

Paper and Card 2.84%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

15.93%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

16.77%

Despite displacing ‘virgin’ 

materials, the recycling of IBA into 

building blocks is not yet counted 

as ‘recycling’ by the Government. 

Nonetheless, re3 recognises the 

value of this activity.

Using the respective weekly 

council kerbside collections is an 

effective way to recycle. This 

indicator looks at this service 

alone.

This target is the traditional 

‘recycling rate’ target that should 

be comparable with other councils 

in the UK.

Category Background

36.74%

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to 

describe items which are not 

supposed to be present within 

recyclables. The level of 

contamination is, therefore, an 

indicator of the effectiveness of 

waste collection arrangements. It 

also has an impact on recycling 

because at high levels of 

contamination it can become 

harder to separate ‘good’ 

recyclables from the unwanted 

items.

10%

April-Sept 2020/21

33.84%

21.72%

10%

52.94%

April-July 2021/22

17



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wokingham

C3A

Statutory Recycling 

Target

C3B

Kerbside Recycling

C3C

Including Incinerator 

Bottom Ash (IBA)

Target 86.32% Target 80.24%

Non Target 

Paper and Card 4.02%
Non Target 

Paper and Card 8.44%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

9.66%

Other Non-

Target and Non-

Recyclable 

Material

11.32%

Despite displacing ‘virgin’ 

materials, the recycling of IBA into 

building blocks is not yet counted 

as ‘recycling’ by the Government. 

Nonetheless, re3 recognises the 

value of this activity.

Using the respective weekly 

council kerbside collections is an 

effective way to recycle. This 

indicator looks at this service 

alone.

This target is the traditional 

‘recycling rate’ target that should 

be comparable with other councils 

in the UK.

8%

35.55%

C1E Contamination

Contamination is the term used to 

describe items which are not 

supposed to be present within 

recyclables. The level of 

contamination is, therefore, an 

indicator of the effectiveness of 

waste collection arrangements. It 

also has an impact on recycling 

because at high levels of 

contamination it can become 

harder to separate ‘good’ 

recyclables from the unwanted 

items.

52.22%

Category Background
April-Sept 2020/21April-July 2021/22

56.74%

37.46%

8%

Recycling Centres

D

Longshot Lane

D

Smallmead 

April-July 2021/22

67.84%

72.10% 86.07%

Category
April-Sept 2020/21

75.59%

18



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

APPENDIX 2 – BREAKDOWN OF RECYCLING RATE 
 

 
 
 
APPENDIX 3 – RIGID PLASTICS RECYCLING COSTS (5th July 2021 – 15th August 2021) 

 

Description Unit Cost per 
Unit 

No of 
Units Total 

Bin Hire at Longshot Lane Per week £50 6 £300 

Transport - Longshot Lane to 
Smallmead 

Per trip 
£120 12 £1,440 

Transport - Smallmead to 
Offtaker 

Per trip 
£360 6 £2,160 

Gate Fee/Processing Per tonne £50 33 £1,651 

Contamination Payment Per tonne £140 0 £0 

Estimated Total - For first 6 
weeks     £5,551 
Approximate cost per 
tonne    £168.11 

 
 

43.75%

55.99%

11.30% 12.23% 11.32% 13.16%
8.50% 10.19%

16.47%
18.12%

11.06%
12.32% 19.81%

21.38%

15.60%
15.96%

11.46%

14.18%
15.39%

17.08%

12.03%

13.28% 8.53%

8.08%

0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

2020/21 2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21 2021/22

BFC RBC WBC re3

Recycling Rate - Qtr 2 (To date)

Food

Other

Green

MDR

Total

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

TO: JOINT WASTE DISPOSAL BOARD 
 7th September 2021 
  
 

REVIEW OF RECYCLING CENTRE BOOKING SYSTEM 
Report of the re3 Project Director 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to brief the re3 Joint Waste Disposal Board on access 

options for the re3 recycling centres. 
  
2 RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 That Members endorse one of the options for access to the re3 recycling 

centres, presented from 5.10.  
 
3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 N/A 
 
4 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 The purpose of this report is to present options for consideration.  
 
5 PROGRESS IN RELATION TO WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 
Review of Booking System 
 
5.1 Members have supported the retention of the recycling centre booking system during 

the COVID-19 pandemic in order to provide clarity in communications for site visitors, 
as well as certainty for other council services and support for neighbouring businesses. 
At the JWDB meeting of January 2021, Members requested that future access options 
be considered. This report sets out relevant data and considerations related to the 
booking system and presents three different options which could be implemented as 
COVID restrictions on social-distancing are lifted. Following the request at the June 
meeting for trials to take place in relation to some of these options, this report has now 
been amended to include the results.   
 

5.2 The booking system was introduced to minimise the formation of queues which may 
have resulted from the ‘one in, one out’ policy; used to help maintain social distancing 
at the recycling centres. Some of the benefits of managing the flow of residents arriving 
at the recycling centres are set out below.  
 
1. The re3 Partnership has helped ensure that access to the co-located waste transfer 

stations has not been restricted by (previously common) queuing vehicles and that 
the delivery of other public services was not delayed. This has been important in 
supporting waste collection and recycling for the three councils as: 
  

a. During 2020/21 and the course of the pandemic, council collected tonnages 
increased by 16%, and prompt turnaround times were important, and;  

b. The recent changes in waste collection at two councils, have further 
increased the number of council vehicles using the sites. 

 
2. There has been improved access for owners and customers of neighbouring 

businesses, helping to address a long-term issue at Longshot Lane in Bracknell. 

21

Agenda Item 8



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Limiting the impact of the re3 facilities in this way, compared to previous conditions, 
helps to foster good relationships and may have been valued by local businesses 
during an already complicated period of trading. Residents are now being allowed 
to queue on site at Longshot Lane, before the recycling centre opens, following 
feedback from neighbouring businesses.  

3. By seeking to ensure that large numbers of residents do not arrive at the recycling 
centre at once, we have helped to reduce the idling of cars caused by queuing at 
the sites. This has potential benefits in terms of the carbon emissions caused by 
prolonged queueing. 

4. During the user satisfaction survey, conducted in December 2020, 64% of 
respondents at Smallmead and 65% of respondents at Longshot Lane said they 
made their visit to the sites more efficient as a result of needing to book. In the 
period between June and December, visitor numbers at Smallmead were 43% 
lower in 2019 than they were in 2020, whilst tonnages were only 16% lower. During 
the same period at Longshot Lane visitor numbers were 50% lower but tonnages 
were only 18% lower. This is in stark contrast to some other sites, where public 
order issues were experienced and Police attendance was required. 

 
5.3 A range of other benefits have also been experienced whilst utilising the booking 

system. These are as detailed below: 
 

5. The recycling rate at both recycling centres increased during the time in which the 
booking system has been in place. The recycling rate in 2020/21 was 76.31% at 
Smallmead and 72.13% at Longshot Lane. This compares to 74.2% and 71.6% in 
2019/20, respectively. Relevant factors may include more time for residents to 
prepare for visits (including packing the vehicle and segregating waste) and  the 
opportunity for better engagement with site staff.  

6. The provision of visitor contact details during the booking process has enabled re3 
to alert residents who are expected to visit in cases where the recycling centres 
have had to close in emergency circumstances. This helps to ensure that residents 
do not need to make unnecessary trips to the site and can help keep access clear 
for the emergency services.   

7. Residents can confirm whether they are happy to receive e-newsletters and 
important announcements from the re3 partnership via the email address they use 
for their booking. Being able to seek consent in this way has helped to increase 
distribution of the re3 newsletter from around 500 subscribers before the 
introduction of the booking system to about 25,000 in March 2021. 

 
5.4 The booking system was also upgraded on the 18th of August2021. The addition of an 

address look-up function to the webform will, it is anticipated, lead to the following 
additional benefits:  
 
8. Residency in the re3 area has previously been assessed by meet and greet staff 

upon a resident’s arrival at the re3 recycling centre. Staff are now familiar with re3 
postcodes but the addition of an address look-up function should help to reduce an 
element of human error , give the staff more time to focus on other tasks and 
provide important information to the residents. More accurate identification of re3 
residents will further help to ensure that re3 residents are not covering the cost of 
waste disposal from elsewhere.  

9. Patronage of the re3 recycling centres has historically been assessed based on 
data obtained during an annual user satisfaction survey. The introduction of an 
address look-up function will allow allocation of tonnages and costs to be based on 
full usage data, rather than an annual survey conducted over a couple of weeks. 
Due to a slight delay in implementing the upgrade, the upgrade has only been live 
for a week, at the time of writing the report. Data from the first few weeks will 
therefore be presented to Members during the September meeting.  

22



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 
5.5 re3 Officers have met with the booking system hosts (JRNI) and the re3 Contractor to 

discuss future options that would be available to the Partnership in the event that a 
booking system is maintained. Some of these are as set out below: 

 
10. The retention of the booking system would enable the partnership to consider 

operating parallel booking systems alongside the one for re3 residents. This may 
offer options to maximise the potential of the facilities, whilst protecting the 
statutory service for residents. For example, it could be possible to have a separate 
trade waste system, with a limited number of slots set aside for local businesses, 
to help facilitate the expansion of this service. Alternatively, the partnership may 
want to consider limited access for residents outside of the re3 area.  

11. It could be possible to take payments for some chargeable products or services via 
the booking system, thereby speeding up access for residents when arriving at the 
recycling centres. Whilst not currently recommended for non-household waste 
types (which are assessed by HWRC staff for consistency) it may be possible to 
take payments in advance if the Councils were to introduce an access charge for 
visitors from outside the re3 Partnership, or for bags of compost.  

12. The booking system may help the re3 Partnership to identify frequent users, whose 
usage may suggest activity more like that of a trader (potentially depositing waste 
illegally, and at the tax payer’s expense) rather than a householder. In the past, 
data relating to usage of commercial vehicle permits has been analysed via a 
manual process. JRNI have confirmed that they will be able to automate some or 
all of this process. The booking system can also be linked to Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition (ANPR) and the Partnership could consider investment in this in 
the future, subject to clarification of the practical and operational benefits.  

13. The ability to tailor the number of visitors present in the recycling centre at any one 
time, could help to minimise disruption to residents caused by activities such as 
ad-hoc maintenance, or the need to conduct a ‘push up’ of waste at Longshot Lane, 
such as in high-Summer, when lots of garden waste has been delivered.  

 
5.6 Alongside the benefits, there have also been some perceived difficulties with operating 

a booking system. These are set out below, alongside the actions that have been taken 
to mitigate against them, where appropriate.   

 
1. During the pandemic a limit on the number of available slots has been 

necessitated by the need to comply with social distancing guidelines at the 
recycling centres. At times of high demand, this may sometimes have led to 
residents booking a slot that was not preferred or booking further ahead than they 
would have liked. Officers managed the number of slots available, in consultation 
with the Contractor, to ensure that additional slots were released where these 
could be accommodated safely.  

2. As with most online systems, a few technical issues have been experienced with 
the booking system. Officers have worked closely with JRNI to ensure that these 
have been quickly resolved.  

3. In order to operate the booking system, the re3 Partnership require all users to 
provide some limited personal information including name, address and email 
address. The quantity of information requested is kept to a minimum in line with 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) requirements and this is handled in 
line with the Data Privacy Notice, which is publicly accessible online. 

4. In order to enable booking details to be easily and safely transferred to Meet and 
Greet staff at the recycling centres, all bookings for the re3 sites must be made 
online, via the appropriate form. In order to make the booking system accessible 
to residents without access to the internet, the customer services teams at all three 
councils are able to make bookings on behalf of these residents, over the phone. 

5. Some users have associated the recycling centre booking system with an 

23



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

increased level of fly-tipping. Officers have monitored levels of fly-tipping and no 
association between fly-tipping and the introduction of the booking system (from 
May 2020) can be determined from the available statistics (Appendix 1). 

 
Options 
 
5.7 Before considering the options available, Officers sought advice from the Chartered 

Institution of Wastes Management (CIWM) about any restrictions that may be 
implemented on the use of booking systems once COVID restrictions are lifted. The 
CIWM advised that DEFRA and the Local Government Association (LGA) had both 
advised that the use of booking systems is for individual authorities to decide.  
 

5.8 Alongside this, Officers received confirmation from the Reading Borough Council Data 
Protection Team that re3 can continue make provision of limited personal information 
(name, address and email address) mandatory when the use of booking system is no 
longer necessitated by social distancing. 
 

5.9 Considering this information, and the review above, re3 Officers have consulted with 
the Contractor in relation to the options available. Three options for Member 
consideration are set out below, alongside the outcomes from the recent booking 
system trials. 

 
Option 1 – Removal of the booking system  

 
5.10 Option 1 would see a return to pre-COVID access arrangements.  

 
5.11 Complete removal of the booking system would have advantages and disadvantages. 

On one hand residents would have the freedom to visit the recycling centre at a time 
that suited them, without needing to provide their personal details in advance. On the 
other hand, we now have experience of a system which genuinely provides certainty 
over a residents’ visit. With removal of this system, queueing, as a result of many 
visitors arriving at the sites at the same time (particularly on Bank holidays or 
throughout periods of good weather) would once-again be more likely. This will make 
current and future usage of Island Road and Longshot Lane harder for neighbouring 
businesses. There would also likely be a return to periods of under utilisation at the 
sites and the other advantages of the booking system (such as the patronage data, ID 
validation and additional communication tools) would be lost. 
 

5.12 The peaks and troughs in visitor numbers, as seen before the introduction of the 
booking system, are clearly visible within the graph at Appendix 2.  

 
Option 2 - Retention of the booking system, with current profiling and additional slots 

 
5.13 Throughout the pandemic, Officers have sought to maximise access to the HWRCs, to 

operate efficient reception of waste from council collections and to minimise the impact 
of the sites on neighbouring businesses though profiling the available bookings. The 
profiling of bookable slots reflects the busiest periods at the transfer stations, the risk 
of queuing before the sites open, peak access times for neighbouring premises and 
Contractor experience.  
 

5.14 Appendix 3 shows how profiling in this manner has enabled numbers of bookings to 
be tailored to the operating conditions, whilst smoothing the large peaks and troughs 
that were seen previously.  
 

5.15 As noted at 5.6 above, the limit on the number of available slots has been necessitated 
by the need to comply with social distancing guidelines at the recycling centres. 

24



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

However, with the relaxation of social distancing rules, additional slots could be opened 
across the week, to allow residents more choice over when to book. 

 
5.16 Any lasting impact on residents’ requirements for visiting the recycling centres, caused 

by COVID 19 (both from changes in lifestyle and the operation of a recycling centre 
booking system for a significant period of time) is as yet unclear. However, Officers 
would not propose to a return to pre-pandemic levels of visits.  
 

5.17 As part of a trial, Officers, in consultation with the Contractor (who is responsible for 
site safety and the receipt of waste from the various sources), sought to progressively 
increase bookable slots to reach an optimised but practically operable level. Officers 
profiled increases of between 5% and 20%, based on our existing principles and 
previous booking levels, and trialled progressive increases at both Recycling Centres 
across June, July and August.  

 
5.18 Too many bookings in the system, at one time, may have led to queues (and 

associated access issues) during some periods. The exact numbers of bookings were 
carefully managed. As a result, there was minimal queuing seen on Longshot Lane 
and Island Road. 
 

5.19 During the 20% trials there were 13,134 slots available across both sites (compared to 
our baseline of 10,926). For an average week in 2019 (between April and September), 
we had 9,526 visits at Longshot and 8,232 at Smallmead. As a result capacity, during 
the 20% trial, was at 74% of pre-covid levels.   
 

5.20 As the restrictions of social-distancing are being relaxed, Officers would propose to 
continue to amend the profiling in a cautious and gradual way in order to maximise the 
benefits from this scheme and potentially further increase availability of bookable slots 
at the facilities. 

 
Option 3 - Retention of the booking system, with weekday profiling and additional 
weekend slots 
 
5.21 Under Option 3, the re3 Partnership could retain booking-slot profiling during the 

working week (Monday to Friday) similar to the numbers currently available, in order 
to maintain easy access for other service users. At the weekend, from 1pm on Saturday 
and throughout Sunday, a larger number of bookable visits would be scheduled. As 
shown in Appendix 2, the weekend has historically been the most popular time for 
residents to visit the re3 recycling centres and this option would help cater for residents 
who may not always be able to make a visit during the week.  

 
5.22 The weekend is a period in which increased numbers of visitors can be 

accommodated, particularly on a Sunday. This is achievable because the other 
integrated facilities (such as the co-located waste transfer stations) are not operational 
on Saturday afternoon and throughout the day on Sunday. Making use of on-site 
queuing measures, such as those required in the Planning Permission for Longshot 
Lane, mean that the impact on surrounding roads can be moderated even over busy 
weekend periods.  
 

5.23 During the weekend of the 14th and 15th of August the number of slots was greatly 
increased at both recycling centres and the use of hour-long slots was trialled to give 
residents extra flexibility over when they visited. Numbers of visitors allowed within the 
recycling centre at any one time was also increased at Longshot Lane, which is an 
outdoor site. Users of the sites were invited to give feedback via a survey and the 
results were used to inform a second trial on the 21st and 22nd. During the second trial, 
30 minute slots were utilised and the number of vehicles permitted within the recycling 

25



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

centre was increased at Smallmead to match the numbers successfully trialled at 
Longshot Lane.    
 

5.24 During the second trial there were just under 1,150 slots available at each site on the 
Saturday and just under 1,400 slots available across both sites on the Sunday. For the 
Sunday, this compares to an average of 1,640 visits at Longshot and 1,595 at 
Smallmead during an average week in 2019 (between April and September). Although 
fewer slots were available during the trial than the average number of visitors in 2019, 
over both surveys and both sites, 65% of respondents said that their preference is for 
there to be fewer slots available at the weekend if this results in shorter queues. 
However, following the second trial, with its amendments, 87% of respondents at 
Smallmead and 96% of respondents at Longshot Lane rated the length of time spent 
queueing as acceptable or better. At Longshot Lane, only 95% of the available slots 
were booked for Sunday the 22nd of August. Officers therefore conclude that there was 
a balance of availability and queueing during the second trial that was acceptable to 
site users.  

 
Conclusion and Recommendation 
 
5.25 Officers in neighbouring Councils are not looking to remove their booking systems at 

this time. A further wave of the COVID-19 pandemic is possible for Autumn/Winter 
2021 and could prompt the return of some social-distancing conditions.  
 

5.26 But the experience of operating a booking system has also illustrated other benefits to 
residents, the councils and the neighbours of the two re3 HWRCs, as this report has 
illustrated.  
 

5.27 Officers therefore propose that the JRNI system would be renewed in November 2021 
(on expiry of the current agreement).   

 
5.28 Officers have assessed that there is a need to balance the availability of slots with the 

management of queues, and also to ensure that a high level of accessibility is 
maintained at the weekend, for residents who are unable to visit during the week.  

 
5.29 A summary of the three different options and the retention of the booking system 

benefits is presented in Appendix 4. In reference to this summary, the outcome of the 
trials, and following discussions with other Councils and the re3 Contractor, Officers 
would recommend that Members request that a variant of Option 2 and Option 3 be 
implemented.  
 

5.30 Following the trials, Officers have assessed that the number of bookings during 
weekdays can be slightly increased with minimal impact on other facilities or 
businesses. However, there is also scope and demand to enable far greater levels of 
bookings to be offered at the weekends. A summary of the proposal is included in 
Appendix 5. Under the proposal 14,056 bookings would be available each week, 
across both sites; equating to 79% of the pre-covid levels.  
 

5.31 Officers will implement the Member decision on this matter, subject to any further 
comments from the Contractor.  
 

5.32 If the booking system is retained, Officers would also propose that the limits on certain 
types of waste, which set out the number of items which can be deposed of at the 
recycling centres, per trip, be revised to allow larger quantities of some items to be 
delivered in a single visit. This revision, as per the table in Appendix 6, would help 
residents to continue to make their visits to the site more efficient.  

 

26



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

5.33 Officers would, as with other services, continue to monitor the booking system 
operation and propose improvements and amendments to the re3 Board, so the re3 
Partnership can continue to respond to any further changes in our operating conditions. 
Officers would also continue to keep the number of slots under review, as per the 
current arrangements.  

 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY 
 
 Head of Legal Services  
 
6.1 None for this report. 
 

Corporate Finance Business Partner 
 
6.2 None for this report. 
 
 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.3 None.  
 
 Strategic Risk Management Issues 
 
6.4      None. 
 

Climate Impact Assessment 
 
6.5 Each of the re3 Councils has made commitments relating to climate change and the 

UK Government declared a Climate Change emergency in 2019. As a result, a high-
level assessment has been undertaken on the impact of maintaining a recycling centre 
booking system on carbon emissions.  

 Energy Use – Shorter queues at the recycling centre result in less idling of vehicles on 
site.   

 Waste Generation – No known impacts. 

 Transport – During the user satisfaction survey conducted in December 2020, 
residents advised both that they made more special journeys to the recycling centre 
as a result of having to book and that they made their visit more efficient. As lockdown 
has eased and more slots have been added to the system, the number of special 
journeys may have reduced. However there is also evidence that visits are being 
coming less efficient as more slots are added to the system.  
 

6.6      It has also been assessed whether the decision will improve resilience to climate change 
impacts. 

 Heatwaves – No known impacts 

 Drought – No known impacts 

 Flooding – No known impacts 

 High Winds/Storms – No known impacts 

 Disruption to Supply Chains – No known impacts 
 
6.7      The overall rating assigned to this decision is a low positive one. It is not possible to 

quantify the impact on transport, but there is a known benefit at the recycling centre.  
 
 
 
 
 

27



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

7  CONSULTATION 
 
7.1  Principal Groups Consulted 
  

Not applicable. 
 
7.2 Method of Consultation 
 
  Not applicable. 
  
7.3 Representations Received 
 
 Not applicable.  
 
Background Papers 
 
October 2020 re3 Board  
 
Contacts for further information 
 
Sarah Innes, re3 Monitoring and Performance Officer 
0118 937 3459 
sarah.innes@reading.gov.uk  
 
Oliver Burt, re3 Project Director  
0118 937 3990 
oliver.burt@reading.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

APPENDIX 1 - Fly-tipping Data  
 
The graph below shows the total number of fly-tip incidents under all reporting categories. As 
the category of fly-tipping is often reported by a variety of stakeholders and relating to a variety 
of standards (and can therefore vary from case to case), all instances of flytipping have been 
reported. The graph therefore represents fly-tips of both commercial and household origins.  
 
It is not easy to draw clear conclusions from the data. There has been an increase in the 
number of instances of fly-tipping in Wokingham and Reading but, from the graph, both appear 
to have commenced before lockdown and may be coming to an end. In the case of Bracknell 
Forest, levels of fly-tipping are relatively low and constant. It may be helpful to understand, in 
greater detail and from the councils themselves, what is behind these statistics.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

APPENDIX 2 – Option 1 
 
The graphs below show the fluctuation in visitor numbers per day and per hour in April 2019 
(when no booking system was in operation at the recycling centres).  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

2019

Smallmead - Visitor Numbers April 2019 

08:00-09:00 09:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 11:00-12:00 12:00-13:00 13:00-14:00

14:00-15:00 15:00-16:00 16:00-17:00 17:00-18:00 18:00-19:00 19:00-20:00

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

2019

Longshot Lane - Visitor Numbers April 2019)

08:00-09:00 09:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 11:00-12:00 12:00-13:00 13:00-14:00

14:00-15:00 15:00-16:00 16:00-17:00 17:00-18:00 18:00-19:00 19:00-20:00

30



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

APPENDIX 3 – Option 2 
 
The graphs below show the level of available bookings per day and per hour in April 2021. 
These can be contrasted with the graphs presented in Appendix 2.  
(The 19:00 – 20:00 period is lower than the others as the sites are currently only open until 
19:30 to allow for additional cleaning).   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

2021 - Slots per hour

Smallmead - Available Bookings April 2021 

08:00-09:00 09:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 11:00-12:00 12:00-13:00 13:00-14:00

14:00-15:00 15:00-16:00 16:00-17:00 17:00-18:00 18:00-19:00 19:00-20:00

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

2021 - Slots per hour

Longshot Lane - Available Bookings April 2021 

08:00-09:00 09:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 11:00-12:00 12:00-13:00 13:00-14:00

14:00-15:00 15:00-16:00 16:00-17:00 17:00-18:00 18:00-19:00 19:00-20:00

31



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

APPENDIX 4 – Review of Benefits  
 
The table below represents a summary of the options presented in this report, in comparison 
to the operation during the pandemic (where all the advantages would be shown in green and 
all the disadvantages in red).  
 

KEY ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Red Minimised Maximised 

Orange   

Green Maximised Minimised 

 

Factors Option 1 – 
Removal of 
Booking 
system 

Option 2 – 
Retention of 
booking system 
with additional 
slots 

Option 3 - 
Retention of 
booking system 
with additional 
weekend slots  

Advantages 1 – Easier access 
to Transfer 
Stations 

   

2 – Easier access 
to Neighbouring 
Businesses 

   

3 – Reduced idling 
of cars 

   

4 – More efficient 
visits 

   

5 - Increased 
access to 
staff/vehicle 
preparation 

   

6 – 
Communication 
during site 
closures 

 
 

  

7 – Increased  
circulation of re3 
newsletter 

   

8 – More accurate 
identification of re3 
residents 

   

9 – Patronage 
analysis 

   

10 – Parallel 
booking systems 

   

11 – Payments in 
advance 

   

12 – Identification 
of frequent users 

   

13 – Scheduled 
maintenance 

   

Disadvantages 1 – Reduction in 
resident choice 

   

2 – Possibility of 
technical issues 

   

3 – Retention of    

32



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Personal data 

4 – Requirement 
for online bookings 

   

5 – Perception of 
fly-tipping 

   

 
APPENDIX 5 – Trial Numbers 
 
The tables below show the number of slots implemented under each of the full week trials and 
the comparison with the number of slots available in April 2021.  
 
The columns for the ‘5th week trial’ also show the proposed number of bookings to be 
implemented initially under the Officer recommendation (described at 5.29).  
 
Please note that the 4th week trial was very similar to the 5th week, but with slightly reduced 
numbers on the Saturday.  
 

Smallmead 

  1st Full Week Trial 2nd Full Week Trial 3rd Full Week Trial 
5th Full Week 

Trial/PROPOSAL 

Base-
line 
(April 
2021) 

W/C 
19th 
July 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
26th 
July 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
2nd 
August 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
16th 
August 

% 
Increase 

Monday 810 876 8% 912 13% 948 17% 948 17% 

Tuesday 810 876 8% 912 13% 948 17% 948 17% 

Wednesday 768 822 7% 834 9% 882 15% 882 15% 

Thursday 768 822 7% 834 9% 882 15% 882 15% 

Friday 774 828 7% 840 9% 888 15% 888 15% 

Saturday 816 942 15% 1020 25% 1056 29% 1146 40% 

Sunday 774 900 16% 978 26% 1014 31% 1386 79% 

TOTAL 5520 6066 10% 6330 15% 6618 20% 7080 28% 

  
        

Longshot 
Lane 

  1st Full Week Trial 2nd Full Week Trial 3rd Full Week Trial 
5th Full Week 

Trial/PROPOSAL 

Baselin
e (April 
2021) 

W/C 
19th 
July 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
26th 
July 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
2nd 
August 

% 
Increase 

W/C 
16th 
August 

% 
Increase 

Monday 738 786 7% 798 8% 846 15% 846 15% 

Tuesday 738 786 7% 798 8% 846 15% 846 15% 

Wednesday 780 846 8% 876 12% 918 18% 918 18% 

Thursday 780 846 8% 876 12% 918 18% 918 18% 

Friday 780 846 8% 876 12% 918 18% 918 18% 

Saturday 816 942 15% 1020 25% 1056 29% 1146 40% 

Sunday 774 900 16% 978 26% 1014 31% 1386 79% 

TOTAL 5406 5952 10% 6222 15% 6516 20.5% 6978 29% 

 

33



Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 
 

 
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED 

 

The table below shows how the number of bookings available in the week of the 16th of August 
(above) compares with an average week in the Summer of 2019 (i.e. before implementation 
of the booking system).  
 

  

Smallmead Longshot Lane 

Average visitor 
Numbers - 
Summer 2019 

Percentage 
available under 
5th Week Trial 

Average visitor 
Numbers - 
Summer 2019 

Percentage 
available under 
5th Week Trial 

Monday 1249 76% 1487 57% 

Tuesday 1022 93% 1280 66% 

Wednesday 971 91% 1161 79% 

Thursday 946 93% 1154 80% 

Friday 987 90% 1213 76% 

Saturday 1463 78% 1590 72% 

Sunday 1595 87% 1640 85% 

TOTAL 8232 86% 9525 73% 

 
APPENDIX 6 – Limits of some waste types deposited per trip  
 

Material Current Limit Proposal if Booking System is 
retained 

Fridges and 
Freezers 

Any domestic fridge or freezer, up 
to the maximum size of an 
American style upright fridge can 
be brought to site. 

No change 

Paint Up to 5 litres of paint. Remove limit 

Engine Oil Maximum of 5 litres. Remove limit 

Animal and Pet 
Waste 

Maximum of 2 bags from domestic 
animals only. Waste from 
livestock and stabling is not 
accepted. 

No change 

Hazardous 
Household Waste 

Up to 2 litres of chemicals.  Remove limit 

Fluorescent 
Tubes and Light 
Bulbs 

Maximum of 10 tubes or bulbs.  Remove limit  

Tyres Maximum of 4 car tyres.  No change 

Fire Extinguishers Maximum of 2 per household (Up 
to and including 2kg/3L only).  

No change 

 
Where it has been proposed that a limit be removed, staff will monitor the deposits to continue 
to ensure that trade waste is not deposited at the tax-payer’s expense.  
 
 

34



Document is Restricted

35

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Meeting of the Joint Waste Disposal Board
	7 Progress Report
	8 Booking System Report
	10 Finance Report

